64 pages

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE

JUN 29 1989

BERNELL HEGWOOD,

Appellant/Defendant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Plaintiff.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 93,336 Circuit No. 87-10559CF

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

A Death Penalty Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Honorable Thomas M. Coker, Jr.

H. DOHN WILLIAMS, JR., P.A. P. O. Box 1722 New River Station Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302 (305) 523-5432

H. Dohn Williams, Jr. Special Public Defender

Gabriele Sturgis Paralegal

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, BERNELL HEGWOOD, was the Defendant is a criminal prosecution in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County, Florida. The Appellee is the State of Florida. In this brief the parties will be referred to as: the Appellant will be referred to as Bernell, and the Appellee will be referred to as the State, prosecution or prosecutor. The record will be referred to by volume and page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, BERNELL HEGWOOD, herein appeals his conviction, judgment, and sentences for three counts of first degree murder and one count of robbery with a firearm. (Vol. 15, p. 2985-2989) Bernell was represented by Carlos Rodriguez, as Special Public Defender, and the State was represented by State Attorney Michael J. Satz. After a trial by jury, Bernell was convicted of three counts of first degree murder and one count of armed robbery. The jury returned an advisory sentence as to each of the three counts of first degree murder. As to each count, the jury recommended a sentence of life imprisonment without possibility of parole for 25 years. (Vol. 15, p. 2951-2954) Bernell's motion for judgment of acquittal after verdict, motion for new trial, and motion for arrest of judgment after verdict were denied. (Vol. 15, p. 2995-2998, 3000) The trial court overrode the jury's recommendation. Bernell was sentenced to death as to each of the three counts of first degree murder.

to the offense of armed robbery, he was sentenced to life in prison consecutive to the three death sentences. (Vol. 15, p. 2991-2994)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Motion to Suppress Statements

on Saturday, May 23, 1987, homicide detectives Walley and Ciani went to the scene of the murders, a Wendy's restaurant located at the corner of Sunrise Boulevard and N.E. 4th Avenue, Fort Lauderdale. (Vol. 1, p. 142-143, 191) They saw the three victims, William Schmidt, the manager, Michael Peters, and Sharon Reeseman, employees, dead from gunshot wounds. Schmidt's body was found in his office. Peters' body was found in the men's restroom, and Reeseman's body was found in the women's restroom. The Wendy's restaurant remained closed pending the murder investigation.

Three days after the murders, the owners of the restaurant called a meeting of the employees to discuss re-opening the restaurant. The police had no clues as to the perpetrator(s). Fingerprints had been found inside the restaurant. In an effort to identify the fingerprints, Detectives Walley and Ciani wanted to obtain fingerprints from the employees. They attended the employees' meeting and asked the employees to voluntarily submit to fingerprinting. (Vol. 1, p. 144-193) With a computer printout of the employees supplied by the owners, role was taken. They were given a fingerprint card, instructed to sign the card, and to take it to the

technician to be fingerprinted. Bernell was given a card; however, he walked toward the door. Walley stopped him. Bernell said, "I can't be fingerprinted because my card is destroyed." Walley gave him a new card and he was fingerprinted. (Vol. 1, p. 145-146, 194)

The next day, Ciani received a call from a road patrol officer who said that "Beverly Williams" wanted to talk to him about the Wendy's murders. He agreed to meet with her. However, when he arrived at the prearranged meeting place, he realized that "Beverly Williams" was really Annie Broadway, a Wendy's employee. (Vol. 1, p. 149) She was very upset. She said that she had something to tell him. She said her son, Bernell, had admitted committing the murders and robbing the restaurant. She did not want Bernell harmed. She wanted to remain anonymous. (Vol. 1, p. 150-151)

Ciani took Annie to the police station where she gave a sworn statement. Based upon her sworn statement, Ciani and Walley obtained an arrest warrant. (Vol. 1, p. 195) Ciani began looking for Bernell. Marvin Broadway, Bernell's brother, told Ciani that Bernell had taken the bus to Hammond, Louisiana. (Vol. 1, p. 152)

That same evening, Sgt. Dykes of the Hammond Police

Department received a telephone call from Bernell's aunt, a local resident. She said that Annie had called stating that Bernell was traveling to Hammond by bus and was armed and dangerous.

Sgt. Dykes was called because he is Bernell's uncle and has known him since birth. (Vol. 1, p. 110-111) Sgt. Dykes also received a teletype from the Fort Lauderdale Police Department

requesting that Bernell be arrested.

The Hammond police learned the bus Bernell was riding would arrive later that evening. The bus was surveilled into the city. (Vol. 1, p. 112) When the passengers got off the bus, Sgt. Dykes identified Bernell. Bernell was told to lay face down on the ground. As Bernell lay on the ground, he was frisked, hand-cuffed, and advised of his Miranda warnings. (Vol. 1, p. 113-114) Sgt. Narretto of the Hammond Police Department transported him to the police station. He had no conversation with Bernell while in transit. (Vol. 1, p. 129-130) At the police station, as part of the booking process, he orally advised Bernell of his Miranda warnings and filled out a written advisement of rights form. (Vol. 1, p. 132)

Ciani and Walley arrived in Hammond the next afternoon. First, they interviewed Leontina Haynes, Bernell's girlfriend.

(Vol. 1, p. 154) Walley and Ciani, accompanied by Lt. Raacke of the Hammond Police Department, took Bernell to an empty courtroom to interview him. A written Miranda warnings form was executed.

(Vol. 1, p. 157) Walley took a taped statement which lasted approximately 17 minutes. After the tape was turned off, Walley told Bernell that he was lying. (Vol. 1, p. 160, 205-208)

Walley told Bernell that he had spent a considerable amount of time investigating the murders. He told Bernell that he had talked to his mother, Annie, and to Leontina. Bernell hung his head down and sat quite for a few minutes.

He talked to Bernell even though he received no verbal response from him. Walley said he would have talked to him for

ever how long it took for him to give a statement. Bernell doubted that Walley had talked with his mother. Walley showed him a portion of the transcript of his mother's statement. (Vol. 2, p. 234-235) He told him that shoe prints had been found inside the restaurant which he felt would match his shoes. He told Bernell these things to convince him to tell the truth. (Vol. 2, p. 224) Walley was aware that Bernell had been detained for 16 hours and not allowed to speak with his family before he interviewed him. (Vol. 2, p. 213)

Walley asked him if had used Marvin's gun to commit the murders. He said, "Yes." Walley asked him what happened. Bernell gave an oral statement which was not tape recorded. Bernell was emotional, upset, and crying during the oral statement.

After giving the oral statement, Bernell was emotionally drained. A crowd of news media personnel had gathered outside the courtroom. A decision was made to move Bernell to a quite location. (Vol. 1, p. 165-169; Vol. 2, p. 210) As they were leaving the courtroom, Bernell grabbed Walley. He said, "I'm sorry. I didn't mean to do it. Please don't let them hurt me. Don't let them kill me." (Vol. 2, p. 211) Walley put his arms around him. He asked Bernell what he meant. Bernell said he didn't want the people in the jail, police officers or anybody to kill him for what he had done. They sat down for a few minutes until Bernell calmed himself. (Vol. 2, p. 211)

Bernell was moved to the detective division for the purpose of taking a second tape recorded statement. Bernell said

he wanted to talk to his mother before giving the second tape recorded statement. (Vol. 2, p. 212, 233) An attempt was made to reach Annie, but she was not at the motel where she was staying. Bernell spoke with his brother, Marvin.

During the second tape recorded statement, Bernell's voice was very subdued. He did not sound the same as he had on the first tape recorded statement. (Vol. 2, p. 237-238)

The next day, Sgt. Dykes was telephoned at home by
Detective Giannobolie of the Hammond Police Department. He
wanted Dykes, Bernell's uncle, to intercede so that Bernell would
give a statement. Dykes went to the police station. Present
were Detectives Walley and Ciani, Bernell's attorney, Michael
Nunnery, and Bernell. Bernell gave a third tape recorded
statement. (Vol. 1, p. 117-118) His attorney, Nunnery,
admonished him to tell the truth. Bernell said he was scared and
afraid what would happen if the truth came out. Bernell then
gave his statement implicating his mother, Annie, in the murders.
(Vol. 1, p. 123-125)

The trial court denied the motion to suppress statements. (Vol. 2, p. 245)

Motion to Dismiss Re: Prosecutorial Misconduct

The defense moved to dismiss the case on the grounds of prosecutorial misconduct stemming from an allegation that a witness who gave testimony favorable to the defense was pressured to change his testimony. (Vol. 15, p. 2891-2893)

David Burke is employed at an insurance company next door to the restaurant. He gave an oral discovery deposition

concerning what, if any, knowledge he had about the events before the murders. On the morning of the murders, he arrived at work at approximately 7:00 a.m. As he parked his car, he saw a black man and a white man having a conversation at the rear of the restaurant. He said he believed he saw Schmidt, the manager, standing at the back door. (Vol. 2, p. 256-258) After making this statement at the deposition, the State Attorney asked Walley to re-interview Burke. (Vol. 2, p. 256) Walley contacted Burke the day after his deposition. Burke changed his testimony to say he was not sure whether he had seen Schmidt. (Vol. 2, p. 260) (emphasis added)

At the evidentiary hearing, Burke acknowledged several times during his deposition that he had said he had seen Schmidt at the back door of the restaurant talking to two individuals, a white male and black male. (Vol. 2, p. 265) Burke remembered that when he arrived at work he saw Schmidt at the back door with a black man and a white man. The afternoon of the murders, the police took a statement from him at his home. After the police took his statement, he could not remember whether he had told them he had seen Schmidt at the door. Burke said he could not be 100% sure that he had seen Schmidt that morning, but to the best of his recollection he had. (Vol. 2, p. 268-270)

Walter LaGraves, Chief Investigator of the State

Attorney's Office, was with Walley when he re-interviewed him.

Burke was simply unsure as to whether he had seen Schmidt the morning of the murders. (Vol. 2, p. 273) Detective Magnifesta of the Fort Lauderdale Police Department interviewed Burke the

afternoon of the murders. Magnifesta asked Burke whether he had seen Schmidt that morning. He replied, "No." (Vol. 2, p. 276-279)

The defense argued that the case should be dismissed on the grounds of prosecutorial misconduct because of the pressures put on Burke to change his testimony. Burke's testimony was favorable to the extent that it placed two other persons, neither of them matching the description of Bernell, at the scene shortly before the murders. The trial court denied the motion. (Vol. 2, p. 284)

State's Case-In-Chief

Wendell Nunez, the assistant manager of the restaurant, closed the restaurant the night before the murders. The floors were scrubbed after closing. He collected the money and put the Friday night receipts in a bank bag inside the safe. He did not work the next day. (Vol. 6, p. 1120-1129)

Roqual Wilkes worked at the restaurant and had been on a leave of absence. The night before the murders, she telephoned Nunez and asked if she could start back to work. He told her to come in the next morning at 8:00 a.m. Because it was raining Saturday morning, she was late to work. She arrived at about 9:45 a.m. and saw other employees sitting outside the restaurant. Marvin Broadway, Bernell's brother, arrived at the restaurant. After sitting outside the restaurant for a while, the employees got into a car and drove around. When they returned to the restaurant, it was still not open. She was with the group of employees who flagged down the police. (Vol. 6, p. 1033-1043)

Latonya Rozier was scheduled to work at the restaurant that morning. She woke up late and telephoned the restaurant at 9:20 a.m. to tell them she would be late. There was no answer. When she arrived at the restaurant, her co-workers were sitting outside the restaurant. She and the others knocked on the windows but there was no response. She drove around with the other workers in an employee's car. When they returned and saw the restaurant still not open for business, they flagged down the police. (Vol. 5, p. 918-928)

Patrol officers Narducci, Foulstick, and Grassi went to the restaurant. They entered the restaurant and discovered the three bodies. They secured the premises to await personnel from the detective division and the crime scene investigation division. (Vol. 4, p. 774-792)

Detectives White, Hirsch, Hill, Kutten, and Doughty processed the crime scene. (Vol. 5, p. 936-944, 958-961, 971-972; Vol. 7, p. 1365-1372, 1383-1409) The most significant evidence was retrieved by Hill. He processed the floor for shoe prints. Using fingerprint powder, he dusted the floor. A number of shoe prints were revealed, which he photographed. (Vol. 7, p. 1385) He found a shoe print on the cover of a vinyl notebook, and a shoe print on a box of scouring pads. He preserved the prints by spraying them with clear acrylic. (Vol. 7, p. 1385-1395) Later, after Florida Department of Law Enforcement shoe print expert, Earnest Hamm, had identified some of the shoe prints, he returned to the restaurant. He and Hamm re-enacted the shoe print patterns by placing life size photographs on the floor. (Vol. 8, p. 1408-1409)

Three days after the murders, the owners of the restaurant scheduled an employees meeting at the restaurant to discuss re-opening the restaurant. Nunez, the assistant manager, went to Bernell's house the day before the meeting to tell Bernell, Annie, and Marvin about the meeting. Bernell did not act unusual. In fact, Bernell showed him where some of other employees lived. (Vol. 6, p. 1175-1179)

Detective Walley attended the employees' meeting. He asked the employees to voluntarily submit to fingerprinting to assist the police in identifying fingerprints found at the scene. While the employees were being fingerprinted he saw Bernell walk out the door. He asked where he was going. Bernell showed him his fingerprint card which was crumbled. Bernell said he could not be fingerprinted because he card was bent. Bernell was given another card and fingerprinted. (Vol. 9, p. 1681-1692)

Annie and Marvin were fingerprinted. (Vol. 6, p. 1156) Bernell told Nunez that he was in a hurry to leave, because he had an interview for another job. He told Nunez that he wanted to be fingerprinted first so he could leave for the interview. (Vol. 6, p. 1157-1159) The last time that Bernell had worked at the restaurant was two days before the murders. He had gone home sick with the flu. (Vol. 6, p. 1175)

The day after the employees' meeting, Nunez went to Annie's house to see if she was coming back to work. Annie and Marvin were at the house. Annie got into his car. As they drove around she told him that Bernell had robbed the Wendy's. Nunez telephoned the detectives to verify her statement. When they

verified that she had spoken with them, he drove her home. (Vol. 6, p. 1180-1182)

None of the workable latent fingerprints were identified as Bernell's. (Vol. 8, p. 1460-1480) The physical evidence found at the murder scene connecting Bernell to the scene was the shoe print evidence. Hamm, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement court qualified footwear expert, examined the shoe print evidence. In excess of 50 shoe prints were found at the scene. Hamm opined as follows:

- (1) that the shoe print found on the scouring pad box was made by the shoe Bernell was wearing when he was arrested;
- (2) that the shoe print on the cover of the vinyl notebook was made by the shoe that Bernell was wearing when he was arrested; and
- (3) that three other shoe prints found in the working area of the restaurant were made by the shoe that Bernell was wearing when he was arrested. (Vol. 10, p. 1971; Vol. 11, p. 2004-2005, 2013, 2024)

The vinyl notebook and the scouring pad box were found in or about the office where Schmidt's body was found. Hamm identified 58 footprints as being made by a Converse shoe. Forty-one of the 58 shoe prints could have been made with Bernell's shoe, or another shoe from the same mold. (Vol. 11, p. 2024)

Dr. Dominguez, the associate medical examiner opined as follows:

- (1) that Schmidt died of multiple gun shot wounds;
- (2) that Peters died of a result of a gun shot wound to the right forehead and that the gun was fired about an inch from his head; and
- (3) that Reeseman died from a gun shot wound to the

head and that the gun was about an inch from her head when it was fired. (Vol. 7, p. 1316)

Concerning the proceeds from the robbery, the State introduced the following evidence When Bernell was arrested the police seized a partial roll of nickels, a pound of marijuana, \$52.00 in U.S. Currency, and a box containing jewelry. The wrapper on the roll of nickels was identified as being the same kind used by Barnett Bank where the restaurant had its account. (Vol. 6, p. 1053, 1108, 1110, 1116) The street selling price of the marijuana was estimated at \$750.00 to \$1,000.00. (Vol. 7, p. 1345-1349) The day Bernell left for Hammond he and Morris Grim bought \$200.00 worth of "crack" cocaine. Bernell paid for it with \$20.00 bills. Bernell showed Grim the pound of marijuana which he said he bought for \$600.00. (Vol. 6, p. 1008-1017)

The payroll manager for Wendy's introduced business records which reflected that Bernell started to work on March 16th and worked a total of 50 days. The last check he received was May 15th. When he left for Hammond, he was owed \$153.00. He earned a total of \$833.82 working for Wendy's. (Vol. 7, p. 1304-1311) Robert Moorman, a jeweler, valued the jewelry Bernell purchased the day of the murders at in excess of \$225.00. (Vol. 9, p. 1622-1625) The State contended that Bernell had not earned enough money to pay his rent and buy the "crack" cocaine, marijuana, clothing, and jewelry.

Dennis Grey, a Broward County Sheriff's Office firearms expert, examined Marvin's gun and determined that it was operable. He opined that the bullets removed from the deceased bodies were the same type that the pistol would fire. However,

he was unable to make an exact match. (Vol. 9, p. 1641-1650)

Leontina Haynes:

In April, 1987, Haynes, Bernell's girlfriend, came from Hammond to live with Bernell. She and Bernell shared a room at Glen Hegwood's house. Glenn is Bernell's uncle. Annie and Marvin also lived at the house. (Vol. 5, p. 804-810)

The morning of the murders, she and Bernell woke up around 6:00 a.m. Around 7:00 a.m., she feel asleep on the couch. Around 9:00 a.m. Bernell woke her up and told her to call her mother. She went to the pay phone at the convenience store across the street. She telephoned her mother. When she returned, she saw Annie coming out of Glenn's room. Bernell told her to call her grandmother. She returned to the store and called her grandmother; however, her grandmother was not home so she spoke to her uncle. She discussed coming back to Hammond. These calls were corroborated by telephone company records. (Vol. 5, p. 811-817; Vol. 7, p. 1301)

When she returned, Bernell told her he had something to tell her that she would find out about sooner or later. She said she didn't want to know. He said he was going to tell her anyway. He took her to their bedroom and showed her the money. He said he robbed Wendy's and shot three people. After Schmidt opened the safe, he told Schmidt he was sorry and shot him. He then went to the bathrooms and shot Peters and Reeseman. She saw the money in a bank bag and Marvin's gun lying on the table. (Vol. 5, p. 819-822) He cautioned her not to tell anyone.

Marvin went to work that morning. When he returned, he said three people had been shot. This was the first time she had heard about the shootings other than from Bernell. (Vol. 5, p. 827)

That afternoon, she and Bernell went shopping. He bought her jewelry and clothing. He bought jewelry and clothing for himself. (Vol. 5, p. 829)

On Tuesday, 3 days after the murders, they packed and left for Hammond. Bernell packed his clothes in a blue duffel bag. (Vol. 5, p. 834-836) When the bus stopped in Alabama they telephoned Marvin. Marvin told Bernell the police were looking for him. Bernell told Leontina he didn't want to be killed by no white man, but did not explain what he meant. (Vol. 5, p. 839-840)

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