IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SEP 20 1989

ELLED

BERNELL HEGWOOD,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME	COURT
By	
Deputy Cler	<b>K</b> _

v.

CASE NO. 72,336

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

####

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

Appellant also argues that the jury may have considered as mitigating evidence Bernell Hegwood's ability to adapt to incarceration. In those instances where this particular nonstatutory mitigating factor became the plausible excuse for justifying the vacation of a jury override, evidence of adaptability was really not the factor but rather, rehabilitation. There is no evidence in this record that Appellant would be anything other than a normal prisoner, based on Dr. Caddy's assessments that Bernell was normal except for his

- 35 -

relationship with his mother. However, there is nothing in this record to reflect that he would be a good candidate for rehabilitation either. Holsworth v. State, 522 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1988). See especially Torres-Arboledo v. State, 524 So.2d 403 (Fla. 1988) (wherein evidence that the defendant would be an excellent candidate for rehabilitation not so important that reasonable people would give it such weight that it would outweigh the aggravating factors presented).

Terminally, Appellant, in a catch-all paragraph, argues that the jury, in considering any relevant mitigating evidence, could have based the life recommendation on Dr. Caddy's testimony that "Bernell was mentally or emotionally deficient because of his upbringing. Bernell grew up in a family where his mother hated him and where he was consistently the subject of manipulation and dishonesty. Alcohol abuse, use of illicit drugs, and free sex were commonplace." (AB 54). None of the aforementioned circumstances were proven. Dr. Caddy testified based on his conversations with Appellant that Appellant was playing games with him. As this Court has noted in Hill v. State, 515 So.2d 176 (Fla. 1987), information directed toward the character of witnesses (Bernell's mother) rather than the defendant himself, should be given little weight or even no weight in ascertaining whether a jury override is appropriate.

Based on the foregoing, the facts **sub judice** "suggesting a sentence of death [are] so clear and convincing that virtually no **reasonable** person could differ." See **Brown v. State**, 473 So.2d 1260 (Fla. 1985).

### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE IV

## THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE MURDER OF WILLIAM SCHMIDT WAS ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL

Appellant pursuant to Maynard next argues that v. Cartwright, 108 S.Ct. 1853 (1988), the statutory aggravating circumstance that the killing was "especially heinous, atrocious or cruel" does not adequately "inform jurors what they must find to impose the death penalty, and as a result leaves the sentencer with the kind of open end discretion which was held invalid in Furman v. Georgia, 405 U.S. 238, 92 S.Ct. 2726, 33 L.Ed.2d 346 (1972)." (AB 55). Appellee would disagree. Indeed, Smalley v. State, So.2d (Fla. 1989), 14 F.L.W. 342, puts to rest any assertion that this particular aggravating circumstance is invalid.

Appellant also argues that it was error for the trial court to find this statutory aggravating circumstance since the jury was not instructed as to this aggravating circumstance. The prosecution agreed that since the jury was not so instructed, the State would not argue to the jury the appropriateness of this aggravating circumstance. In **Cochran v. State**, 14 F.L.W. at 407, this Court opined that:

> Under our law, it was proper for the trial court to take into consideration Appellant's previous conviction in the Arbelaez case, even though that conviction was not presented omitted] jury. [cites the This to circumstance, however, does not alter this court's responsibility to review the sentence Tedder standard. under the When the sentencing judge is presented with evidence

not considered by the jury, the jury's recommendation still retains great weight. Although this court has upheld jury overrides in cases where the trial court had before it evidence in aggravation not considered by the jury, we found in each case that death was imposed consistently with Tedder. See Spaziano; Porter; White.

Appellee would submit that where the jury was not instructed as to a particular aggravating factor, said factor necessarily is not unavailable to the sentencer, the trial judge. See Hoffman v. State, 474 So.2d 1178 (Fla. 1985), wherein the court observed:

> Hoffman also argues that the trial court erred in finding that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel even though the jury itself was not instructed on this particular aggravating circumstance. We fail to see how the jury's not being instructed on this aggravating circumstance has worked to Appellant's disadvantage and therefore find this argument to be without merit.

476 So.2d at 1182.

Halfheartedly, Appellant also argues that an aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious or cruel was not applicable regarding the death of William Schmidt. Appellant is wrong. The record reflects that two people, Sharon Reeseman and Michael Peters, were killed in an execution-style manner. The third victim, Williams Schmidt, suffered four gunshot wounds. Based on the medical examiner's testimony, one wound was a defensive wound, piercing Schmidt's left forearm. (TR 1333). A second wound, to the back of the skull, was a near contact wound but apparently not fatal. (TR 1334). The third and fourth wounds suffered could have been fatal, one being a non-contact wound to the right cheek of Schmidt's face and a second non-contact wound

- 38 -

to Schmidt's chest. (TR 1324-1327). Based on the facts as Appellant told them, apparently, Appellant entered the office where William Schmidt was located and the Wendy's safe was located and shot Schmidt. Based on his statements to his mother, Annie Broadway, Schmidt begged him not to hurt him but Appellant shot him anyway. Based on the medical examiner's report, Schmidt suffered at least one defensive wound, and based on the crime scene report, a struggle occurred in the office. See **Cooper v. State**, 492 So.2d at 1062 (HAC valid where victims were acutely aware of impending death and were helpless. A gun pointed at the head of one victim misfired; another pleaded for his life).

1

The trial court, in finding this particular aggravating circumstance applicable as to Mr. Schmidt's murder, observed:

This aggravating circumstance does apply in this case as to the murder of William Schmidt, as the defendant indicated in a statement to his mother that William Schmidt begged for his life prior to his being executed by the defendant. See Jones, supra; Parker v. State, 476 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1985).

(TR 3008).

This Court observed in Blanco v. State, 452 So.2d 520, 526 (Fla. 1984), that the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious or cruel applies to "those capital crimes where the actual commission of the capital felony was accompanied by such additional acts as to set the crime apart from the norm of capital felonies -- the consciousless or pitiless crime which is unnecessarily torturous to the victim."

In the instant case, as in Parker v. State, 476 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1985); Zeigler v. State, 402 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981); White

1981), see also State, 403 So.2d 331 (Fla. White v. v. Wainwright, 632 F.Supp. 1140 (S.D. Fla. 1986), aff'd, 809 F.2d 1478, cert. denied, 108 S.Ct. 20 (1987); Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986); Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1985); Roberts v. State, 510 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1987), and Jones v. State, 411 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1982) (where this Court upheld HAC where a defendant ignored the pleas to be spared by the victim and shot him at point-blank range, execution-style), the finding by the trial court that the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious or cruel was applicable to the case sub judice is valid.

There can be no mechanical litmus test for determining whether this aggravating circumstance is applicable, because it is not merely the specific and narrow method in which the victim is killed that makes a crime heinous, atrocious or cruel. Rather, the entire set of circumstances surrounding the murder should be viewed. McGill v. State, 428 So.2d 649 (Fla. 1983). This Court has observed in Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194, 196 (Fla. 1985), that the mindset or mental anguish of the victim is an essential and important factor in determining the application of this factor. However, the helpless anticipation of impending death need not go on for hours. See Clark v. State, 443 So.2d 973, 977 (Fla. 1983); Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1983), and Scott v. State, 494 So.2d 1134 (Fla. 1986). In the instant case, William Schmidt pled for his life and struggled for his life. As in Jones, supra, the trial court's finding that this murder was heinous, atrocious or cruel is justified.

Appellant's sole reliance on the case of Amoros v. State, 531 So.2d 1256 (Fla. 1988), is misplaced. In Amoros, this Court found that the aggravating factor heinous, atrocious or cruel was not applicable where the defendant did not know the victim and shot the victim two minutes after entering the premises. The victim was probably not the target of Amoros because he went there to confront his girlfriend who just happened to be staying with the victim.

Based on the foregoing, Appellee would urge this Court to affirm the finding of heinous, atrocious or cruel in the instant case.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE V

# THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE MURDERS WERE COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER

Appellant next argues that the murder were not committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. A review of Appellant's confessions wherein he admits to the murders reflects that (even if you believe that he "accidentally" killed Michael Peters in the bathroom), he said he had to shoot Bill Schmidt and Sharon Reeseman because they would know what he had done. The instant case represents cold, calculated and premeditated execution-type killing, and the trial court so found:

> This aggravating circumstance does apply in The physical evidence and the this case. defendant's own statements indicate that following the initial murder, he sought out The victims all witnesses and executed them. in this case were coworkers of the defendant who were executed merely because they had the misfortune to have had come to work on time on May 23, 1987, and to have been at there of employment when the defendant place committed an armed robbery of the restaurant. Having been unfortunate enough to be present at the time the defendant sought to rob the Wendy's for whom he worked, they were then executed gunned down and in cold, а calculated and premeditated manner by the defendant, and most certainly without any pretense of moral or legal justification whatsoever.

(TR 3008).

Indeed, Dr. Dominguez's medical report reflects that as to Sharon Reeseman and Michael Peters, they were murdered executionstyle, one bullet to the back of the head. The record also

reflects that Appellant went to the restaurant armed with his His girlfriend testified that the night before brother's gun. the murder, Appellant was playing with a gun, practicing loading The record also reflects that the weapon and unloading it. carried five rounds and in fact, based on the number of gunshot wounds fired in the restaurant, Appellant had to reload the gun This case is clearly distinguishable from between shootings. Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987), especially where, as here, there was advance procurement of the weapon, there was lack of resistance or provocation and the killings were carried out as a matter of course-execution style. See Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988); Remeta v. State, 522 So.2d 825 (Fla. 1988) (defendant planned robbery in advance and planned to leave no witnesses); Melendez v. State, 498 So.2d 1258 (Fla. 1986); Jackson v. State, 498 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1986); Huff v. State, supra; Dufour v. State, 495 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1986) (defendant's announcement of an intent to commit murder and a subsequent execution-style shooting sufficiently established an aggravating factor); Kokal v. State, 492 So.2d 1317 (Fla. 1986), and Burr v. State, 466 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Fla. 1985) (where the court observed that the trial judge's finding that the defendant had a pattern of shooting store clerks during commission of robberies and that the position of the victim's body, indicated that victim was shot in the back of the head while kneeling down, supported the conclusion that the murder was committed in the manner of an execution), Eutzy v. State, supra, and Cooper v. State, 492 So.2d at 1062.

The authorities cited by Appellant are either not applicable or reliance is misplaced. For example, in Hamblen v. State, 527 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1988), Hamblen stated that he was only in the store to rob and that when the victim set off a silent alarm he got mad and shot her. Pursuant to Rogers v. State, supra, this particular aggravating factor was inappropriate therein. In Fitzpatrick v. State, 527 So.2d 809 (Fla. 1988), while Fitzpatrick had a well though out plan as to how he was going to rob a bank, his plans were to use his hostages as a means of escape, he apparently never intended to murder them.

The murders of William Schmidt, Sharon Reeseman and Michael Peters, beyond a shadow of a doubt, were cold, calculated and premeditated. Based on the foregoing, the trial court's finding that the murders were committed in such a manner.

### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN LIMITING THE DEFENSE COUNSEL'S CROSS-EXAMINATION OF THE STATE'S KEY WITNESS, ANNIE BROADWAY

Lastly, Appellant argues that the trial court erred in limiting the scope of cross-examination of Annie Broadway. Specifically, what he sought to elicit was testimony unrelated to "one of the most infamous mass-murders in South Florida history." The State, pretrial, filed a Motion in Limine to (AB 61). restrict testimony regarding prior criminal conduct of Annie Broadway, in particular her drug usage or whether she was a drug dealer, whether she was a paid informant for the police and any misconduct she may have performed prior to this murder. Appellee would submit, based on the record that was presented with regard to Annie Broadway's drug use, her reputation for truthfulness, whether she was a good mother, whether she was of loose moral character, whether she had been involved as an informant, and other matters which would fall within the motion in limine, any restriction was harmless error if error at all.

In **Coxwell v. State**, 361 So.2d 148, 152 (Fla. 1978), the court held:

Our conclusion here should not be construed that the to suggest scope of crossexamination is wholly without bounds, nor a discretionary curtailment of the that inquiry before it exceeds those limits can never be harmless error if no prejudice can We only hold that where a be demonstrated. criminal defendant in a capital case, while his Sixth Amendment right exercising to and cross-examine confront the witnesses

against him, inquiries of a key prosecution witness regarding matters which are both germane to the witnesses testimony on direct examination and plausibly relevant to the defense, an abuse of discretion by the trial judge in curtailing that inquiry may easily constitute reversible error . . .

While limitation on cross-examination must be carefully guarded, cross-examination is not unrestricted and the relevancy of the limitation is important. Moreover, unless there is a demonstration that the trial court, in exercising his discretion, abused it, the ruling will stand. Maycock v. State, 284 So.2d 411 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1973); Nelson v. State, 395 So.2d 176 (Fla. 1st Moreover, where cross-examination is sufficient to DCA 1980). explore a witnesses credibility with regard to the limited crossexamination materials, any error perceived will be deemed Duncomb v. State, 237 So.2d 86 (Fla. 3rd DCA harmless error. 1970); Ackerman v. State, 372 So.2d 215 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); Hansborough v. State, 509 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1987); Morgan v. State, 415 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1982), and Antone v. State, 382 So.2d 1205 (Fla. 1980).

Finally, in Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 337-339 (Fla. 1982), this Court, in minute detail, discussed the limitations therein of cross-examination of a state's witness. One of the reasons cited dealt with the fact that much of the information sought to be elicited through cross-examination was material substantially put to the jury through other witnesses. The court further noted:

> . . . while the defense had the right to question Capo as to the whole of the conversation he spoke of on direct examination, [cites omitted] and as to the

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